FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. ("Portfolio"), 

FutureSelect Prime Advisor II, LLC ("Prime Advisor"), The Merriwell 

Fund, L.P. ("Merriwell"), and Telesis IIW, LLC ("Telesis") (collectively, 

"FutureS elect") appeal the trial court's granting of motions to dismiss filed 

by Tremont Group Holdings, Inc. and Tremont Partners, Inc. (collectively, 

"Tremont"), Oppenheimer Acquisition Corporation ("Oppenheimer"), 

Massachusetts Mutual Life Insurance Co. ("MassMutual") and Ernst & 

Young LLP ("EY") (collectively, "Madoff Defendants").

I. INTRODUCTION 

FutureSelect, all Washington based companies, lost nearly $200 

million as a result of their investment in the Rye Funds. The Rye Funds 

are managed by Tremont, overseen by Oppenheimer and MassMutual (as 

Tremont's parents), and audited by EY (as the Rye Funds' auditor). 

Without granting leave to amend and with no explanation whatsoever, the 

Superior Court dismissed with prejudice a detailed, 216-paragraph 

complaint. This extraordinary, unexplained denial of Washington 

citizens' right to recover for a crippling loss for investments solicited in 

Washington, through misrepresentations made in Washington, and under 

laws designed to protect Washington investors demands reversal. 

FutureSelect can and did plead claims against each Madoff Defendant. 
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II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 

1. The trial court erred when it granted the motions to dismiss 

filed by EY, Tremont, Oppenheimer and MassMutual of all fifteen counts 

of the Complaint, especially without granting any leave to amend. 

a. Did FutureSelect's Complaint make a prima facie showing 

that jurisdiction was proper over Oppenheimer? 

b. Is it possible that facts could be established to support the 

allegations in FutureSelect's Complaint: (1) under the Washington State 

Securities Act ("WSSA") against Tremont, Oppenheimer, MassMutual 

and EY, (2) of negligent misrepresentation against EY and Tremont, and 

(3) of agency and apparent agency against Oppenheimer and MassMutual? 

c. Can FutureSelect's Complaint be dismissed with prejudice 

in favor of a federal case in the Southern District of New York that has 

since been settled, and where FutureSelect opted out of the settlement? 

d. Can FutureSelect's Complaint be properly dismissed with 

prejudice on/orum non conveniens grounds where FutureSelect, residents 

of Washington, who were harmed in Washington, received 

misrepresentations in Washington, assert Washington causes of action, 

and chose a Washington forum to pursue their claims? 
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III. ST A TEMENT OF THE CASE 

A. Tremont 

1. Tremont Solicits FutureSelect in Washington to Invest 
in Madoff through Rye Funds 

FutureSelect, which includes FutureSelect Portfolio, Prime 

Advisor, Merriwell and Telesis, are registered Washington companies 

operating out of Washington and acting on behalf of investors holding 

mostly Washington assets. CP 5-6. Tremont visited and solicited 

FutureSelect in Washington to invest in Bernard Madoff through the Rye 

Funds.! CP 9. The Rye Funds are a series of funds that were sold and 

managed by Tremont and invested exclusively or nearly exclusively with 

Bernard Madoff and his companies. CP 9-10. Tremont represented that 

the Rye Funds were a rare opportunity to invest with Madoff, who 

according to Tremont, was soon going to stop accepting new investments. 

CP 9-10. 

2. Tremont Vouches for Madoff 

Tremont made misrepresentations to FutureSelect in Washington, 

through in-person meetings, numerous monthly telephone 

communications from 1998 through 2008, and through written 

correspondence sent to FutureSelect in Washington. CP 9-10, 12-13 ,-r,-r34, 

1 These funds include Rye Select Broad Market Fund, L.P., Rye Select Broad 
Market Prime Fund, L.P., and Rye Select Broad Market XL Fund, L.P. 
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38,40-47. During that time, Tremont misrepresented it had a 

comprehensive understanding of Madoffs business and conducted 

continuous monitoring and oversight. CP 10-12, 31. Tremont falsely 

emphasized in its offering materials, financial disclosures, direct 

correspondence, and conversations with FutureSelect that it had conducted 

thorough due diligence of Madoff to verify the existence of the assets 

Madoff claimed to hold and manage for Tremont's investors and the 

occurrence of trades that Madoff claimed to execute on the investors' 

behalf. CP 9. Among other things, Tremont misrepresented that it 

performed numerous confirmation and analytic procedures, engaged in 

regular conversations with Madoff himself, and hired an entity to perform 

an objective accounting of Madoffs accounts independent of Tremont's 

review. CP 11-13. Tremont told FutureSelect that "[e]ach month 

Tremont analyzes every account" held with Madoff. CP 12. Tremont 

represented to FutureSelect that its ongoing oversight and testing of 

Madoffwas satisfactory in every respect. CP 11-12. 

3. Tremont's Representations Were Knowingly False and 
Misleading. 

Tremont's representations to FutureSelect in Washington were 

knowingly false and misleading. CP 14-15,31-32,42-43. In December 

2008, it was revealed that Madoff s operation was a massive fraud. CP 
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14. Madoff's fraud was not complicated. Madoffhas admitted he never 

made any of the investments he purported to, but simply deposited 

investors' funds into a checking account. CP 2, 14. 

If Tremont actually had conducted the monitoring that it claimed, 

it would have discovered Madoffs fraud. CP 14-15. In fact, Tremont did 

not perform the due diligence and monitoring it represented it would do, 

did so negligently, or discovered evidence of Madoff's fraud and failed to 

report it. CP 4, 14-15. In other words, Tremont had no basis to provide 

FutureSelect with the assurances and reports that purported to show 

Tremont's active and effective oversight of FutureSelect's investments. 

CP 15. 

B. Oppenheimer and MassMutual Had the Right to Control 
Their Agent Tremont. 

In 2001, before the bulk of FutureSelect's investments in the Rye 

Funds were made, MassMutual acquired Tremont through Oppenheimer. 

CP 15. Oppenheimer and MassMutual knew that Tremont's Rye Funds 

were invested exclusively with Madoff, and saw this as a strong selling 

point. CP 16. In particular, the fees collected by Tremont on the Rye 

Funds were what made Tremont such an attractive acquisition to 

MassMutual. CP 15-16. 
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1. MassMutual and Oppenheimer Knew or Should Have 
Known Tremont Was Making False Statements to 
FutureSelect. 

When conducting due diligence in connection with their 

acquisition of Tremont, both Oppenheimer and MassMutualleamed that 

Tremont's representations to the Rye Funds' investors regarding its 

oversight and monitoring of Madoffwere false or, at minimum, highly 

suspect. CP 16-17. Nevertheless, MassMutual and Oppenheimer acquired 

Tremont. CP 15. Because of the financial benefit they received from 

Tremont's operations, MassMutual and Oppenheimer permitted Tremont 

to continue to offer the Rye Fund investments and make false and 

misleading statements regarding those investments. CP 17. 

2. MassMutual's and Oppenheimer Admitted Their Right 
of Control Over Tremont and These Investments. 

MassMutual and Oppenheimer admitted in public filings that they 

were the control persons over Tremont, as specifically alleged in the 

Complaint: "MassMutual, Oppenheimer and Oppenheimer Funds were 

listed as 'control persons' of Tremont on Tremont's Uniform Application 

for Investment Advisors Registration filed with the SEC." CP 19. 

Moreover, the Complaint alleges the touchstone of agency, the right of 

control, as to the very investments at issue: "MassMutual and 

Oppenheimer had the right to control Tremont such that they could have 

prevented Tremont from offering investments in Madoff." CP 17-18. 
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The Complaint alleges numerous other facts demonstrating the 

right of control: upon acquiring Tremont, MassMutual and Oppenheimer 

took several steps to move Tremont under their control, including 

restructuring Tremont. CP 15, 18. For example, Oppenheimer and 

MassMutual directed and influenced Tremont's management and provided 

extensive support services, including compliance, audit, finance and 

human resources. CP 18,20. All five of Tremont's board members 

became MassMutual or Oppenheimer employees, and Tremont's co-chief 

executive officers became employees of Oppenheimer. CP 18. In 

addition, senior Oppenheimer personnel became Tremont executives. CP 

19. Through these structural changes, Oppenheimer and its parent 

MassMutual ensured they had ultimate control over the manner of 

Tremont's investment strategy. CP 18-19. Through these and other 

changes, MassMutual and Oppenheimer ensured they had the power to 

control Tremont's policies and procedures, including the manner in which 

the Rye Funds invested. CP 20. Accordingly, MassMutual and 

Oppenheimer had the power to control the Rye Funds' investments with 

Madoff. CP 20. 
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3. MassMutual and Oppenheimer Held Tremont Out as 
Their Agent. 

MassMutual, Oppenheimer and Tremont manifested their 

principal-agency relationship in many ways. Tremont stated publicly that 

MassMutual and Oppenheimer were control persons over Tremont. CP 

19. Tremont put "An Oppenheimer Funds Company" on its stationary and 

marketing materials. Id. 

Moreover, MassMutual began to market Tremont as its agent, 

listing it in its annual reports as "one of MassMutual's worldwide 

'General Agencies and Other Offices,'" and listing Tremont and the Rye 

Funds as approved investments for its high net worth individuals. CP 19-

20. These manifestations led FutureSelect to believe that Tremont was 

acting as MassMutual's and Oppenheimer's agent. CP 41. 

4. The Complaint Alleges Actual Control. 

The Complaint alleges not only that Defendants publicly admitted 

that MassMutual and Oppenheimer were control persons over Tremont, it 

alleges that MassMutual and Oppenheimer actively participated in the 

very decisions giving rise to this Complaint. The Complaint alleges that 

MassMutual and Oppenheimer controlled the "manner in which Tremont 

solicited its investment business." CP 17-18 ~63. Moreover, MassMutual 

and Oppenheimer "directed and influenced the management of' Tremont, 
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so much so that they could have prevented the losses in this case. CP 18 

~~63-64. 

C. The Auditor: EY 

Tremont and MassMutual knew that the Rye Funds would be much 

more attractive investments if the funds' financial statements were audited 

by reputable, well-known auditors, so they hired EY as the funds' auditor 

from 2000 through 2003.2 CP 20, 23-24. 

1. EY Knew that FutureSelect Was Receiving the Audited 
Financial Statements. 

EY knew its audits were being used to solicit FutureSelect's 

investment in Washington. CP 10,20,21,23-25. Each audit was 

addressed to the "Partners" of the fund, which EY knew included 

FutureSelect in Washington. CP 23-25. In fact, for each audit, EY sent to 

FutureSelect in Washington requests for confinnation of FutureSelect's 

investments in the Rye Funds. CP 23 ~89. 

2. EY Made False and Misleading Statements. 

EY's opinions misrepresented that it had conducted its audits in 

confonnity with Generally Accepted Auditing Standards ("GAAS"), and 

falsely stated that the Rye Funds' financial statements were "free of 

material misstatement" and were in accordance with generally accepted 

accounting principles ("GAAP"). CP 21, 23-25. In fact, EY missed the 

2 KPMG was the funds' auditor from 2004 through 2007. 
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largest misstatement in history. Each year EY certified that the Rye 

Funds' assets were real, however, no assets existed. CP 23, 25. These 

untrue statements were made negligently, and were substantial factors 

contributing to FutureSelect's investment in the Rye Funds. CP 24, 26-27, 

36-38. 

3. EY Was Negligent and Violated Its Professional Duties. 

EY's job was to verify that the hundreds of millions of dollars the 

Rye Funds claimed to have under the management of Madoff were real 

and properly valued. CP 21, 27. EY could not perform the tests required 

under GAAS at Tremont, however, because Tremont's entire investment 

was in Madoff, and Madoff prepared and controlled all of the information 

regarding the investments. CP 27. Because Madoff had control over these 

assets, the auditors could either obtain assurance that they could rely on 

Madoff's information or audit Madoffs own operations-they did neither. 

CP27. 

EY did not perform the testing it was required to under GAAS. CP 

27. Because the auditors failed to do so and because they had no basis to 

rely on the information supplied by Madoff, EY had insufficient audit 

evidence to conduct the audits and issue its unqualified opinions on the 

Rye Funds' financial statements. CP 28. In fact, ifEY had performed the 
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required procedures, it would have discovered the Madoff fraud. CP 29-

30. 

EY was grossly negligent when it certified that the Rye Funds had 

hundreds of millions of dollars-ultimately over a billion-in assets when, 

in fact, Madoff stole all the money invested in those funds. CP 24, 26-27. 

The funds never had any of the assets EY certified as real. CP 24. 

D. FutureSelect Relied on the Madoff Defendants' 
Representations and Lost Millions. 

From the inception of FutureSelect's investments in 1998, through 

2008, FutureSelect relied in Washington on Tremont's assertions in 

maintaining investments and in making new investments in the Rye 

Funds. CP 13-14,32,42-43. From the time of FutureSelect's initial 

investment in Tremont until the discovery of the Madofffraud, 

FutureSelect received-at its offices in Washington-and relied on the 

Rye Funds' audited financial statements when making its investments. CP 

5-6,8,20,37,39,46-47. FutureSelect relied on EY's statements and took 

great comfort in knowing that Tremont was audited by a prestigious "Big 

4" auditing firm, EY, and that Tremont was performing due diligence on 

and monitoring Madoff. CP 13-14,30-31. Unlike the Madoff 

Defendants, FutureSelect had no access to Madoffs information and could 

not perform any of the due diligence and oversight itself. CP 10, 13-14. 
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FutureSelectjustifiably relied on the MadoffDefendants' false 

representations, and as a result had approximately $195 Million invested 

in the Rye Funds that was, in fact, worthless. CP 2, 23-24, 31-32,43. 

E. FutureSelect's Claims 

FutureSelect filed its Complaint where it resides, where it was 

solicited, where it was lied to, where it relied on those lies, and where it 

was injured-in Washington. The Complaint alleges claims against 

Tremont for negligent misrepresentation and negligence. It seeks to hold 

Oppenheimer and MassMutualliable for those acts on theories of actual 

agency and apparent agency. In addition, the Complaint alleges a 

violation of the Washington State Securities Act ("WSSA") against 

Tremont, and seeks to hold Oppenheimer and MassMutualliable as 

"control persons" under the WSSA. The Complaint alleges claims against 

EY for violations of WSSA and for negligent misrepresentation. 

F. Motions to Dismiss 

The Madoff Defendants moved to dismiss FutureSelect's claims on 

the grounds that they should be brought in federal court in New York, 

where a class action involving investors in Tremont was then pending. CP 

82-85,574-78,853,873-76. In the alternative, the MadoffDefendants 

sought to stay the action on the same grounds, and also argued lack of 
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personal jurisdiction, forum non conveniens and failure to state a claim. 

CP 70-85,588-593,839-852,876-87,900-17. 

On June 3, 2011, in a departure from decisions involving investors' 

claims against the Madoff Defendants around the country, 3 the King 

County Superior Court granted Tremont's, Oppenheimer's, MassMutual's 

and EY's motions to dismiss, signing dismissal orders identical to those 

submitted by the MadoffDefendants. CP 3343-57. The dismissal orders 

do not state the basis on which the trial court's decisions were made. CP 

3343-57. FutureSelect filed a notice of appeal on June 16,2011. CP 

3360-87. Respondents filed motions to dismiss the notice of appeal. The 

appeal was dismissed on November 21,2011. FutureSelect subsequently 

filed a motion for entry of final judgment pursuant to Civil Rule 54(b). 

3 This is not the only suit by an investor against the Madoff Defendants; in fact, 
they have made the exact same arguments in numerous courts to avoid liability -
unsuccessfully. See White v. Manzke, 2011 WL 1021362 (Cal. Ct. App. 2d Dist. 
Mar. 23, 2011) (reversing dismissal of investors' claims on/arum non 
conveniens grounds in action against the Rye Funds, Tremont, Oppenheimer and 
MassMutual relating to defendants' failure to conduct proper due diligence on 
Madoft); KPMG LLP v. Cocchi, 51 So.3d 1165 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 2010) 
(affirming denial ofKPMG's motion to dismiss Tremont investors' negligent 
misrepresentation and fraud claims as derivative and on/arum non conveniens 
grounds in favor of the consolidated New York action), vacated and remanded 
on other grounds _ u.s. _, 132 S. Ct. 23, 181 L. Ed. 2d 323 (2011). See also 
Askenazy v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc., 2012 WL 440675 (Mass. Super. Ct. 
Jan. 26, 2012), at * 12-14 (denying motions to dismiss investor state securities 
and negligent misrepresentation claims against Tremont Defendants and auditor). 
FutureSelect recognizes that Manzke is an unpublished California case that 
ordinarily should not be cited under GR 14.1. FutureSelect references it here 
because the Madoff Defendants cited the trial court decision in support of their 
motions to dismiss-which subsequently was reversed in an unpublished 
opinion. 
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CP 3388-3400. None of the Respondents opposed entry of those findings, 

and FutureSelect's motion was granted on December 14,2011. 

FutureSelect timely filed this appeal on December 23, 2011. CP 3408-

3437. 

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW 

A motion to dismiss under Civil Rule 12(b)( 6) may be granted 

"only if it appears beyond doubt that the plaintiff cannot prove any set of 

facts, consistent with the complaint, justifying recovery." Hipple v. 

McFadden, 161 Wn. App. 550, 556-57,255 P.3d 730, 733 (2011). See 

also McCurry v. Chevy Chase Bank, FSB, 169 Wn.2d 96, 101,233 P.3d 

861,862-63 (2010) (refusing to change the standard for dismissing a Civil 

Rule 12(b)(6) motion despite the United States Supreme Court's recently 

altered and more stringent interpretation of the corresponding Federal 

Rule of Civil Procedure.). The Court of Appeals reviews rulings on 

motions to dismiss for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted de novo. Hipple, 161 Wn. App. at 556; Burton v. Lehman, 153 

Wn.2d 416,422, 103 P.3d 1230, 1233-34 (2005). 

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

Washington law applies to these claims of Washington citizens, 

who were solicited by the MadoffDefendants in Washington using 

misrepresentations made in Washington in violation of Washington law 
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that caused injury in Washington. The Washington State Securities Act 

("WSSA") was designed to protect investors just like FutureSelect. 

Because the Superior Court dismissed the Complaint with 

prejudice, by law that dismissal could not have been based on the priority 

of action rule or forum non conveniens, which require that the dismissal be 

without prejudice to permit filing in another forum. In any event, there 

was no identity of parties with a New York federal class action and no 

grounds to require these Washington citizens to travel across the country 

to file and pursue their claims. 

FutureSelect has pleaded every element of every claim in its 

Complaint. As to the WSSA, FutureSelect specifically pleaded that it 

relied on Tremont's misstatements and Tremont's reliance on documents 

outside the Complaint cannot contradict the allegations of the Complaint, 

which must be taken as true. The Complaint also pleads that EY was a 

substantial contributive factor to FutureSelect's investments, and thus 

EY's argument that it is not a "seller" under the WSSA is irrelevant. 

Whether EY was a substantial contributive factor is a question of fact, and 

like EY's argument that it performed "routine services" despite the 

contradictory allegations of the Complaint, cannot be resolved on a motion 

to dismiss. 
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The Complaint specifically pleads that Oppenheimer and 

MassMutual are control persons under the WSSA, including that they 

admitted they were control persons in publicly filed documents and 

controlled the actual investments at issue in this case. Similarly, the 

Complaint pleads, in detail, that Oppenheimer and MassMutual had the 

right to control Tremont, the touchstone of agency, including with respect 

to the very investments at issue. Based on Washington's long-arm statute, 

jurisdiction is proper over Oppenheimer because jurisdiction concededly is 

proper over its agent, Tremont. 

The Complaint likewise pleads all elements of FutureSelect' s 

negligence claim against Tremont and its negligent misrepresentation 

claims against EY and Tremont. Tremont again sought to rely on 

documents outside the Complaint, in this case unsigned limited

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