68130-3

68130-3

No. 68130-3-I

**IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION I**

FUTURESELECT PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT, INC.,
FUTURESELECT PRIME ADVISOR II LLC, THE MERRIWELL
FUND, L.P. and TELESIS IIW, LLC

Plaintiffs/Appellants,

v.

TREMONT GROUP HOLDING, INC., TREMONT PARTNERS, INC.,
OPPENHEIMER ACQUISITION CORPORATION,
MASSACHUSETTS MUTUAL LIFE INSURANCE CO., and ERNST &
YOUNG LLP

Defendants/Respondents.

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS DIV I
STATE OF WASHINGTON
2012 MAR 16 PM 3:47

**BRIEF OF RESPONDENT OPPENHEIMER
ACQUISITION CORP.**

PERKINS COIE LLP

David F. Taylor, WSBA # 25689
Cori G. Moore, WSBA # 28649
1201 Third Avenue, Suite 4800
Seattle, WA 98101-3099

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

V. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This Court should affirm the Superior Court's dismissal of the claims asserted against OAC with prejudice for either or both of two independent reasons: (i) OAC is not subject to jurisdiction in Washington under any cognizable theory; and (ii) FutureSelect's attempts to hold OAC liable for Tremont's alleged wrongdoing under theories of agency or apparent agency, or for violation of the Washington control person statute, each fail as a matter of law.

FutureSelect concedes that OAC never had any contacts with either the state of Washington or even with FutureSelect. Nonetheless, FutureSelect argues that because it alleged a substantive agency claim against OAC, it automatically established jurisdiction over OAC in Washington because Tremont Partners' in-forum contacts necessarily are "imputed" to OAC. FutureSelect is wrong as a matter of law. There is no legal basis to "impute" Tremont Partners' contacts to OAC, nor does FutureSelect cite any authority supporting its pioneering theory that OAC

is subject to jurisdiction solely by virtue of its indirect corporate parent status to Tremont Partners. Even more fundamentally, FutureSelect does not even attempt to argue that such “agency” jurisdiction over OAC meets the requisite constitutional due process standards, presumably because the case law makes clear that its theory would be entirely unconstitutional.

Even if FutureSelect could establish personal jurisdiction over OAC (which it cannot), each of its claims still failed as a matter of law, notwithstanding FutureSelect’s indiscriminate bundling of Defendants together, and even its pejorative and unfounded reference to all Defendants as the “Madoff Defendants.”

FutureSelect’s agency claim failed because FutureSelect did not and cannot allege how Tremont acted as OAC’s agent in selling Rye Fund limited partnerships to FutureSelect given the conceded fact that FutureSelect’s Rye Fund investments pre-dated OAC’s ownership by years. OAC is—and was—a parent holding company that conducts only one business: buying and holding assets of its investments. FutureSelect conclusorily reclassified OAC’s parent company status as that of a “principal” in attempting to plead an agency claim, but it did not and cannot allege that: (1) OAC and Tremont “mutually consented” to Tremont selling Rye Fund limited partnerships as OAC’s agent, or (2) that OAC “controlled” Tremont’s conduct, particularly with regard to

Tremont's solicitation and sale of Rye Fund limited partnerships to FutureSelect.

FutureSelect's apparent agency claim was similarly deficient. FutureSelect was unable to allege—let alone plausibly argue—that OAC “objectively manifested” to FutureSelect that Tremont was its agent. Tellingly, FutureSelect did not allege ever to have known that OAC was Tremont's parent holding company or to have communicated with OAC on any topic, let alone that OAC ever represented to FutureSelect that Tremont was its agent. Instead, FutureSelect relied on allegations of purported statements and conduct by entities other than OAC, which is legally insufficient to plead an apparent agency claim against OAC. FutureSelect, itself a sophisticated investment advisor investing hundreds of millions of dollars of its clients' money, also cannot allege it was objectively reasonable for it blindly to assume that Tremont's subsidiary status made it OAC's agent in selling Rye Fund limited partnerships.

FutureSelect's control person claim failed for the fundamental reason that FutureSelect did not and cannot allege that OAC (a) “actually participated” in Tremont Partners' operations, (b) possessed the power to control Tremont's solicitation and sale of Rye Fund limited partnerships to FutureSelect, or (c) actually controlled the Tremont Partners/Madoff relationship at issue.

At bottom, FutureSelect’s claims are ultimately nothing more than a conclusory attempt to circumvent the well-established “general principle of corporate law deeply ingrained in our economic and legal systems that a parent corporation . . . is not liable for the acts of its subsidiaries.” *United States v. Bestfoods*, 524 U.S. 51, 61, 118 S. Ct. 1876, 141 L. Ed. 2d 43 (1998). As such, the Superior Court’s dismissal of the claims against OAC was entirely consistent with other courts’ dismissals of similar claims against OAC in similar Madoff-related litigation.³ See *Askenazy v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, No. Civ. A. 201004801BLS2, 2012 WL 440675 (Mass. Super. Jan. 26, 2012) (dismissing OAC for lack of personal jurisdiction); *Zutty v. Rye Select Broad Mkt. Fund, L.P.*, No. 113209/09, 2011 WL 5962804 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. Apr. 20, 2011) (dismissing claims against OAC with prejudice for failure to state a claim).⁴

³ FutureSelect erroneously suggests the Superior Court’s dismissal of OAC was a “departure from decisions involving investors’ claims against the Madoff Defendants.” App. Br. at 13 n.3. As correctly cited above, two courts have decided motions to dismiss filed by OAC—and both have dismissed similar claims against OAC with prejudice. Notably, FutureSelect fails to identify even a single Tremont-related decision that is inconsistent with the Superior Court’s dismissal of OAC with prejudice, because there is none.

⁴ Pursuant to General Rule 14.1, a party may cite an unpublished decision issued by a court outside Washington state where citation to the decision is permitted under the law of the jurisdiction of the issuing court. GR 14.1(b). There is no rule prohibiting citation to unpublished cases in Massachusetts, New York, the Southern District of New York, the Northern District of California, or the Western District of Washington.

VI. ARGUMENT

A. OAC IS NOT SUBJECT TO PERSONAL JURISDICTION IN WASHINGTON

FutureSelect properly concedes that OAC never has had any contacts with Washington, much less the requisite “minimum contacts” necessary to satisfy constitutional due process requirements. Despite OAC’s complete lack of contact with Washington, FutureSelect seeks to proceed against OAC in a Washington court on the legally untenable premise that the in-forum contacts of OAC’s indirect subsidiary, Tremont Partners, must be imputed to OAC solely by virtue of FutureSelect’s assertion of a substantive agency claim against OAC. App. Br. at 49. FutureSelect neither offers any case law support for its novel theory, nor does it make any mention of the constitutional due process requirements that would be trampled if OAC could be subject to jurisdiction in Washington based on nothing more than the mere assertion of a substantive agency claim.

Regardless of whether a plaintiff has asserted a substantive agency claim against a non-resident parent company, constitutional due process requires that jurisdiction over a parent company based on a subsidiary’s in-forum conduct can be found only where the plaintiff can demonstrate that the subsidiary performs services in the forum that are sufficiently important to the parent such that in the absence of a

representative to perform them, the parent would undertake to perform such services itself. Here, FutureSelect no longer even attempts to argue, let alone demonstrates, that OAC—a parent holding company with no investment advisory or hedge fund business itself—would have undertaken to market or sell the Rye Funds in Washington in the absence of Tremont’s performance of these same activities. This failure is fatal to any effort to establish personal jurisdiction over OAC on the basis of Tremont Partners’ contacts with this state.

1. FutureSelect Cannot Demonstrate That the Exercise of Jurisdiction Over OAC Comports With Constitutional Due Process

FutureSelect argues that it need only allege an agency claim against OAC to establish personal jurisdiction in Washington over OAC. *See* App. Br. at 49. However, FutureSelect ignores—but could not possibly dispute⁵—that the exercise of personal jurisdiction—particularly with regard to a nonresident holding company with no Washington contacts—not only must satisfy the Washington long-arm statute, but also must comport with constitutional due process. *SeaHAVN, Ltd. v. Glitnir*

⁵ Even the cases FutureSelect relies on recognize that “the exercise of jurisdiction must comport with the state’s long arm statute, *and* with the constitutional requirement of due process.” *Kreidler v. Pixler*, No. C06-0697, 2006 WL 3539005, at *3 (W.D. Wash. Dec. 7, 2006) (emphasis added); *see CTVC of Hawaii, Co. v. Shinawatra*, 82 Wn. App. 699, 709, 919 P.2d 1243 (1996) (same), *review denied*, 131 Wn.2d 1020 (1997).

Bank, 154 Wn. App. 550, 563, 226 P.3d 141 (2010). *Accord Harbison*, 69 Wn. App. at 597.

To satisfy constitutional due process, FutureSelect must meet a three-prong test:

(1) [t]he nonresident defendant or foreign corporation must purposefully do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state; (2) the cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and (3) the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, consideration being given to the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state, the relative convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation.

Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 113 Wn.2d 763, 767 (1989), *rev'd other grounds*, 499 U.S. 585 (1991). FutureSelect's personal jurisdiction argument does not begin to meet any of these basic and constitutional requirements.

A plaintiff "may not use liability as a substitute for personal jurisdiction." *American Tel. & Tel. Co. v. Compagnie Bruxelles Lambert*, 94 F.3d 586, 590-91 (9th Cir. 1996). FutureSelect fails to cite even a single case premising jurisdiction over a parent company on nothing more than the assertion of an agency claim based on the in-forum contacts of a subsidiary—because there is none. The pertinent question for jurisdiction purposes is not whether FutureSelect has asserted an agency claim, but

whether FutureSelect has met its burden of demonstrating that OAC has “purposefully avail[ed] itself of the privilege of conducting activities within the forum state, thereby invoking the benefits and protections of its laws.” *Walker v. Bonney-Watson Co.*, 64 Wn. App. 27, 34, 823 P.2d 518 (1992) (finding a plaintiff bears burden of establishing purposeful availment). Indeed, as another court recently recognized in dismissing Madoff/Tremont-related claims against OAC on personal jurisdiction grounds, the “constitutional dimensions” of personal jurisdiction prohibit a plaintiff from conflating allegations of “substantive liability . . . with ‘amenability to suit in a particular forum.’” *Askenazy*, 2012 WL 440675, at *9.⁶

FutureSelect’s failure to satisfy constitutional due process is alone grounds to affirm the Superior Court’s order as to OAC. *See SeaHAVN*, 154 Wn. App. at 569 (affirming dismissal where plaintiff failed to satisfy the “purposeful availment” prong of constitutional due process test); *Grange Ins. Ass’n v. State of Washington*, 110 Wn.2d 752, 762, 757 P.2d 933 (1988) (reinstating trial court order dismissing defendant for lack of constitutionally sufficient contacts with Washington).

⁶ FutureSelect’s speculation that the *Askenazy* court would have found jurisdiction over OAC had the plaintiffs merely added an agency claim (App. Br. at 50 n.12) is directly contrary to the court’s proper finding that substantive liability cannot satisfy the constitutional requirements of due process.

2. FutureSelect Cannot Rely Upon Tremont Partners' Washington Contacts for Purposes of Establishing Personal Jurisdiction Over OAC

FutureSelect's attempt to impute Tremont Partners' contacts to OAC also is directly contrary to the "well established" principle that a parent-subsiary relationship by itself is "insufficient to attribute the minimum contacts of the subsidiary to the parent." *Bingham v. Blair LLC*, No. C10-5005, 2010 WL 2196106, at *4 (W.D. Wash. May 27, 2010). The U.S. Supreme Court has established that due process mandates that "[e]ach defendant's contacts with the forum State must be assessed individually." *Calder v. Jones*, 465 U.S. 783, 790, 104 S. Ct. 1482, 79 L. Ed. 2d 804 (1984). Thus, courts applying Washington law correctly have refused to exercise jurisdiction over a foreign parent company based on its subsidiary's in-forum contacts. *See, e.g., Bingham*, 2010 WL 2196106, at *4 (declining to impute subsidiary's in-forum contacts to foreign parent company).

FutureSelect is unable to cite a single Washington state court decision finding jurisdiction over a parent company based on its subsidiary's in-forum contacts—because there are no such cases. The few Washington federal courts to consider the issue have imposed an appropriately stiff burden on plaintiffs, by requiring well-pled factual allegations that the subsidiary performs "services sufficiently important to

[the parent] that if it did not have a representative to perform them, [the parent] . . . would undertake to perform” such services. *Beltappo, Inc. v. Rich Xiberta, S.A.*, No. C05-1343Z, 2006 WL 314338, at *5 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 7, 2006). And, where the parent is purely a holding company (such as OAC), the burden on plaintiffs is even higher because the subsidiary of a parent holding company “conduct[s] business not as [the parent’s] agent but as its investment. The business of the parent is the business of the investment, and that business is carried out entirely at the parent level.” *Doe v. Unocal Corp.*, 248 F.3d 915, 929 (9th Cir. 2001).

FutureSelect itself advanced this standard in its brief below (CP at 1725-28), but deserted it at oral argument below and again deserts it on appeal—presumably because FutureSelect cannot even allege, let alone demonstrate, that Tremont sold Rye Fund limited partnerships “on behalf” of OAC. Specifically, FutureSelect alleged only that:

- OAC owns Tremont’s stock (CP 7 ¶ 24);
- OAC purportedly “directed and influenced the management of [Tremont]” (CP 18 ¶ 64);
- shared board members with Tremont (*id.* ¶ 66); and
- “provided extensive support services to Tremont” (*id.* ¶ 64).

None of these tangential facts regarding OAC’s ownership of Tremont bears any relation to the pertinent question of whether Tremont

Partners' presence substituted for OAC's in Washington. Nearly every parent/subsidiary relationship includes stock ownership and overlapping directors and officers; thus, courts consistently have held that allegations of these normal incidences of a parent/subsidiary relationship fail to provide a legally sufficient basis to impute Tremont's contacts to OAC under any jurisdictional theory. *See Williams v. Canadian Fishing Co.*, 8 Wn. App. 765, 768, 509 P.2d 64 (1973) (mutuality of corporate officers and directors insufficient to impute contacts because "there is no showing in the record that the officers of the subsidiary do not act independently of the parent corporation"); *Glud & Marstrand A/S v. Microsoft Corp.*, No. C05-1563, 2006 WL 2380717, at **9-10 (W.D. Wash. Aug. 15, 2006) (allegation of "extremely close relationship" insufficient to impute subsidiary's contacts).

Tellingly, FutureSelect does not even attempt to argue that Tremont performed services "on behalf of" OAC that, if not for Tremont, OAC would have itself performed in Washington. *See, e.g., Beltappo*, 2006 WL 314338, at *5. Even if it did try to make this argument, the bottom line is that OAC did (and does) nothing more than own the stock of the parent company (Tremont Group) to the general partner (Tremont Partners) of the limited partnership hedge funds in which FutureSelect invested (the Rye Funds). Thus, OAC would not, and never did, step into

the shoes of Tremont to perform activities related to the sale of Rye Fund limited partnerships in Washington or elsewhere—and FutureSelect cannot allege or demonstrate otherwise.

In sum, given the incontestable facts that (a) OAC is a parent holding company that itself had no contact with FutureSelect or played any role in FutureSelect’s or Tremont’s investment decisions, and (b) OAC never did, could or would step into Tremont’s shoes to perform any activities related to the sale of the Rye Funds, FutureSelect cannot establish jurisdiction over OAC consistent with constitutional due process.

B. FUTURESELECT FAILED TO STATE ANY CLAIM AGAINST OAC

FutureSelect’s bare allegations against OAC do not support any of the three claims it asserted against OAC:

First, FutureSelect’s agency claim failed because FutureSelect did not (and cannot) allege that (a) OAC and Tremont “mutually consented” to an agency relationship, or (b) Tremont sold Rye Fund limited partnerships “on behalf” and under “control” of OAC.

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